1995

Joseph W. Shields v. Arvil A. Harris : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Appellant Arvil A. Harris ("Harris") appeals a final Decision, Order on Supplemental Findings, and Judgment and Decree Granting Specific Performance of the Eighth Judicial District Court of Duchesne County, State of Utah in favor of Appellee Joseph W. Shields ("Shields"). The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(k) (Supp. 1995).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND THE STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue #1

Whether the trial court erred in specifically enforcing a real estate option where the purchaser failed to make a valid tender of the purchase price, as required under Utah law.

Standard of Review and Preservation of the Issue for Issue #1

The first issue should be reviewed for correctness because "when the trial court has based its rulings upon a misunderstanding and misapplication of the law, where a correct one would have produced a different result, the party adversely affected is entitled to have the error rectified in a proper adjudication under correct principles of law." Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374, 1377 (Utah 1980).

This issue was preserved for appeal in the Bench Trial Tr. (hereafter "Tr.") at 182-8; 204-08; 294-95.

Issue #2

Whether the trial court erred in decreeing that Shields could exercise his option on or before "the expiration of the real property lease," contrary to the terms of the option.

Standard of Review and Preservation of the Issue for Issue #2

The second issue should be determined under a "correction of error" standard because "[i]f a contract is unambiguous, interpretation of the contract is a question of law, which we review for correctness." Edwards & Daniels Architects, Inc. v. Farmers' Properties, Inc., 865 P.2d 1382, 1385 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

This issue did not have to be raised at trial because the Plaintiff did not seek, as part of his requested relief, specific performance contrary to the terms of the contract. This issue first arose when the trial court entered its final judgment decreeing performance contrary to the contract terms.

DETERMINATIVE RULES AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

None

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Harris appeals a final judgment and decree of the Honorable John R. Anderson of the Eighth Judicial District Court of Duchesne County, State of Utah granting specific performance of a real estate option against Harris. This action arises under common law.

Harris will show that Shields was not entitled to an award of specific performance of the Option To Buy where (1) Shields failed to make a valid tender of the purchase price, which includes an unconditional offer of payment of the money due, together with the actual production of the money or its equivalent, as required for specific performance; (2) the evidence does not show that tender would have been futile; and (3) the trial court ordered specific performance inconsistent with the parties' agreement. Therefore, this Court should find that the trial court committed error in decreeing specific enforcement of the Option To Buy and deny Shields specific performance.

B. Course of the Proceedings and Disposition Below

Shields brought an action against Harris to compel specific performance of a real estate option. The parties presented evidence and argument at a bench trial on October 17 and 18, 1994. After hearing the evidence, the trial court took the matter under advisement and then issued its Decision on October 24, 1994. The trial court clarified its Decision by an Order on Supplemental Findings, dated June 22, 1995, and also issued a Judgment and Decree Granting

Specific Performance of the same date. The trial court held that the Option To Buy is definite, valid, and enforceable; determined the sales price to be \$202,125.00, less all credits and liens; and did not require Shields to tender the purchase amount. The Judgment also required Harris to sell his property to Shields at a closing date as prayed for by Shields or prior to expiration of "the real property lease."

Harris appealed the trial court's decision to the Utah Supreme Court, which transferred the matter to the Utah Court of Appeals. Harris now asks this Court to reverse the trial court and deny specific performance of the option to convey real estate.

C. Statement of Facts

Harris is the owner of 320 acres of real property, including water shares and an irrigation system, located in Pleasant Valley, Duchesne County, State of Utah. (Real Property Lease dated May 1, 1987, Add., Doc. 2.) Shields is the owner of real property located three miles away from Harris' property. (Tr. at 98.)

Harris, as lessor, and Shields, as lessee, entered into a five-year real property lease on April 1, 1985. (Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law at 1, ¶ 1, Add., Doc. 4.) After the parties entered into the lease, Harris made substantial improvements on the property, at his own expense, in the form of a renovated irrigation system. (Tr. at 116; Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law at 1, ¶ 1, Add., Doc. 4.)

On or about February 10, 1987, the parties mutually agreed to terminate the 1985 lease because Harris was interested in selling the property or in obtaining a longer term lease, and Shields was interested in purchasing the property or in having a longer term lease. (Tr. at 156; Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law at 2, ¶ 2, Add., Doc. 4.) As an incentive to induce Shields to enter into a longer-term lease or purchase the property, Harris executed an "Option To Buy," in writing, on February 12, 1987, and delivered it to Shields. (Tr. at 157-59.) The option proposed a new seven-year lease and an option to buy at any time during the seven years. The terms of the option are as follows:

A. Lessee, Joseph W. Shields would have this Special option to buy said ranch from Lessor Arvil A. Harris for a reasonable price to be negotiated by five independent people, one man from the Federal land Bank, one man from the Soil Conservation Service in Roosevelt, Utah office, one banker from the First Security Bank of Utah loan department, Roosevelt Utah, one farmer in the Myton, Utah area, and one real estate broker in the Myton or Roosevelt area. These five people would make a fair study at the time of purchase to make an honest and fair appraisal of the ranch. All five bids would be added up for a grand total and divided by five to arrive at a selling price.

B. A special consideration would be given to Joseph W. Shields in that \$5,000.00 per year would be given toward the down payment at any year during the course of the seven year lease. For example, if you choose to buy the seventh year of the lease \$35,000.00 would be allowed as a down payment toward the purchase price of said ranch. Said price of the ranch would be based on the appraisal of the five people mentioned in Paragraph A. If for example, the average of these five appraisals came to \$300,000.00, then you could apply the \$35,000.00 as part of the down payment. The balance due would be \$265,000.00.

(Option To Buy, Addendum, Doc. 1.)

On February 20, 1987, Shields filed a Chapter 12 Plan of Reorganization in the United States Bankruptcy Court. (Tr. at 126-34.) After the dismissal of the Chapter 12 proceedings, approximately 90 days after it was filed, Harris and Shields entered a ten-year lease, which began on May 1, 1987 through May 1, 1997, with annual payments of \$13,000.00. (Real Property Lease dated May 1, 1987, Add., Doc. 2; Tr. at 148-50.)

The ten-year lease, executed in May of 1987, does not make any reference to the seven-year option, executed in February of 1987; nor does the Option to Buy refer to the ten-year lease. (Option To Buy, Add., Doc 1; Real Property Lease dated May 1, 1987, Add., Doc. 2; Tr. at 140.) Furthermore, Shields never discussed the Option to Buy with Harris, nor communicated whether he accepted or rejected the option until 1993. (Tr. at 158, 176-77.)

Shields commenced farming the leased land and made all payments to Harris pursuant to the terms of the lease. (Tr. at 112-14; 169.) In the spring of 1993, Harris approached Shields and told him that Harris was going to sell the property to Burton Dairy, and Harris offered to buy out the remainder of Shield's lease. (Tr. at 142-43.) In response, Shields decided to attempt to exercise the Option To Buy to prevent Harris from selling the property to someone else and sought the assistance of legal counsel to enforce it. (Tr. at 143-44.) Pursuant to the terms of the Option to Buy, Shields obtained four appraisals; he was unsuccessful in obtaining the fifth appraisal from the Soil Conservation District. (Tr. at 145-46, 182-83.) Shields obtained these appraisals without telling, consulting with, or cooperating with Harris. (Tr. at 144-46.) After obtaining the appraisals, Shields had his attorney prepare and mail a

letter, dated August 2, 1993, to Harris' attorney, which communicated Shields' intention to exercise the option. (Tr. at 177-81.) Based on the appraisals he obtained, Shields asserted that the sale price should be \$134,200.00. (Complaint, R. at 6.) Although Shields asserted that he was ready, willing, and able to purchase Harris' property, Shields never did produce or pay any of the purchase money. (Tr. at 146, 183-84.)

Although the option did not require the parties to cooperate in selecting appraisers or specify who was to select the appraisers, after Harris learned that Shields obtained appraisals, Harris procured two appraisals. (Tr. at 167-69.)

The trial court found that "Shields was not required to tender the purchase price under the facts and circumstances of this case because the formula for finalizing the purchase price could not be completed without the cooperation of both parties as specifically set forth in the Option To Buy agreement." (Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law at 4, ¶ 17, Add., Doc. 4.) However, the trial court did not order the parties to cooperate in selecting appraisers to value the property. Rather, the trial court averaged an appraisal by a neighbor Shield's selected with an appraisal by a neighbor Harris selected to determine one of the required appraised values. (Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law at 5, ¶ 19(a), Add., Doc. 4.) The trial court did not adhere to the formula set forth in the option in determining this averaged appraisal value. (Option To Buy, Add., Doc. 1.)

The trial court found that the terms of the option were definite, concluded that the Option To Buy is valid and enforceable, and ordered Harris to sell the real property to Shields for a

purchase price of \$202,125.00, less credits and liens, and provide good and marketable title. (Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law at 4, ¶ 13; 7-8, ¶¶ 2, 6, Add., Doc. 4; J. and Decree Granting Specific Performance at 2, ¶ 2, Add., Doc. 6.) The trial court ordered that the sale take place "within such period of time as demanded by the Plaintiff, but not to exceed the date of the expiration of the real property lease. . . ." (J. and Decree Granting Specific Performance at 2, ¶ 2, Add., Doc. 6.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This Court should reverse the trial court's award of specific performance of the real estate option to Shields because Shields failed to tender the purchase price, as required under Utah Law. Shields alleged that the sale price of Harris' property should be \$134,200.00 and asked the trial court to order Harris to sell his property to Shields at that amount. Utah courts have held that a purchaser seeking specific performance of a real estate contract must make a valid tender of the purchase amount before the court can order specific performance, unless the purchaser is excused because tender would be a futile act. Shields has not made a valid tender of performance, nor does the evidence show that tender would have been futile because Harris retained control of and title to his property and could have performed if Shields had tendered the purchase price. Therefore, Shields is not entitled to specific enforcement of the Option To Buy.

In addition, this Court should reverse the trial court's decree which allows specific performance to occur at any time prior to "expiration of the real property lease" because the trial court awarded Shields a judgment inconsistent with the evidence. Shields prayed for judgment conveying Harris' property to Shields pursuant to the terms of the Option To Buy. The trial court held that the terms of the option were unambiguous and granted Shields' prayer. However, the trial court also ordered that the closing date may not exceed the expiration of "the real property lease." By so doing, the trial court added a term which is inconsistent with the option and which is not in accord with Shields' requested relief. The only reference to a closing date in the Option To Buy is the ability of Shields to exercise the option at any time during "the course of the seven year lease." (Option To Buy ¶ B, Add., Doc. 1.) Harris and Shields never entered into a seven-year lease. Nor does the Option To Buy reference the ten-year lease entered into by Harris and Shields approximately three months after the option was executed. Assuming that the trial court is referring to expiration of the ten-year lease as a closing date, then the trial court is supplying a term not included in the option or requested by Shields. A court of equity is bound to command present performance of acts in conformity with the contract. Here, the trial court ordered Harris to sell to Shields either by a closing date which passed prior to judgment or a date not in accord with the parties' contract.

Consequently, the trial court inappropriately awarded Shields specific performance of the real estate option, and this Court should reverse that order by denying specific performance.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE OPTION TO BUY BECAUSE SHIELDS FAILED TO TENDER THE PURCHASE PRICE

Shields' failure to make a valid tender of the purchase price for Harris' property precludes specific enforcement of the Option To Buy. Before specific performance will be employed by the courts on a contract for the sale of real estate, the purchaser must show that he paid the purchase price or tendered it to the seller. Century 21 All Western Real Estate and Investment Inc. v. Webb, 645 P.2d 52, 55-56 (Utah 1982). In Century 21, the Utah Supreme Court found that

During the executory period of a contract whose time of performance is uncertain but which contemplates simultaneous performance by both parties, such as the Earnest Money agreement involved in this case, neither party can be said to be in default (and thus susceptible to a judgment for damages or a decree for specific performance) until the other party has tendered his own performance.

Id.

Utah's courts have clarified what constitutes a valid tender as follows: "In order to have a valid tender, there must be 'a bona fide, unconditional, offer of payment of the amount of money due, **coupled with an actual production of the money** or its equivalent.'" Carr v. Enoch Smith Co., 781 P.2d 1292, 1294 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) (emphasis added) (citing Zion's Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319, 1322 (Utah 1975)); accord Jenkins v. Equipment Center, Inc., 869 P.2d 1000, 1003 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). For further emphasis, the Carr court

stated that "[i]t is not enough to simply inform the seller that the buyer is ready and willing to perform the contract as planned." Carr, 781 P.2d at 1294.

The rationale for the tender requirement is that the trial court should be certain that if the seller is ordered to perform, the purchaser will be able to pay. Cohen v. Rasner, 624 P.2d 1006, 1008 (Nev. 1981). In Cohen, purchasers contracted for the sale of two vacant lots and construction of apartment buildings on each lot. The contract was contingent on the purchasers obtaining the maximum obtainable loan and the sellers carrying the balance. The purchasers assumed a loan and obtained a building permit on one of the lots. On the second lot, the purchasers applied for a loan, which was never processed, and failed to apply for a building permit, which later became unobtainable when Carson City imposed a moratorium on construction. The purchasers sought specific performance, which was denied because the "buyers' assumption of one loan and their application for another did not constitute performance which would entitle appellants to equitable relief because they had not shown their present willingness and ability to perform their obligation under the contract." Id. at 1007. Even though the purchasers in Cohen did begin financial arrangements for the purchase of real estate, their failure to complete the financial arrangements before seeking specific performance precluded their relief.

In Carr, the plaintiff entered into an earnest money agreement to purchase a home to be built as part of a housing development and paid \$1,000.00 as a down payment. Without any notice to the purchaser, the seller revised the construction of the home to make it suitable for

use as a model home by a real estate agency and returned the purchaser's earnest money deposit. Whereupon, the purchaser had his attorney send a letter to the real estate agency, which expressed the purchaser's intent to perform under the contract. In response, the seller informed the purchaser that the seller considered their agreement to be terminated by the purchaser's failure to obtain a loan for the residence. Then, the purchaser sued for specific performance, seeking to force the seller to convey the home to the purchaser, rather than allowing the residence to be used by the real estate agency as a model home. The purchaser based his action upon two arguments: (1) the purchaser did make a valid tender by his letter expressing his intent to perform the contract; and (2) the purchaser argued that the tender requirement was excused because the seller had repudiated the contract by committing the home for use as a model home.

Both the trial court and the appellate court found no merit to the purchaser's first argument because the purchaser failed to satisfy his tender obligation by simply serving a notice of his willingness to proceed. Carr, 781 P.2d at 1294. The Carr court explained that "the requirement of a tender is well-established," and for a valid tender, the purchaser must unconditionally offer payment of the money due, plus actually produce the money. Id. The Carr court determined that the purchaser's letter expressing his intent to perform the contract "at most expressed a desire on the part of Carr to go forward. . . [and] cannot be viewed as satisfying the tender requirement." Id.

Carr's second argument, that tender was excused, also failed. Utah courts recognize that tender may only be excused where a party demonstrates by "reasonably plain and clear" evidence that tender would have been a futile act. Id. at 1295. The Carr court explained the rule of law as follows:

[t]he familiar rule that the law does not require one to do a vain or useless thing excuses the making of a formal tender which would otherwise be required, where it is reasonably plain and clear that if made, such a tender would be an idle ceremony and of no avail, as where it appears that a tender, if made, will be refused for some reason unrelated to the tender or its sufficiency. . . .

Id. (citations omitted).

In Carr, the evidence showed that although the seller allowed a real estate agency to use the house as a model home, such use did not place it beyond the seller's control. The seller did not convey title, and no evidence suggested that the alterations in the construction of the home could not have been corrected for the purchaser's use. Id. The Carr court held that from this evidence, "the record is not so 'reasonably plain and clear' as to demonstrate that tender would have been a futile act." Id. Based on the evidence before the court, the seller could have performed his obligations had the purchaser tendered the balance of the purchase price. Whether the seller would have performed or even wanted to perform was irrelevant. The court only focused on whether the seller was capable of performing had the seller produced the money in conjunction with the tender offer. The Carr court concluded that the purchaser's duty to tender was neither performed nor excused; therefore, the purchaser was not entitled to specific performance. Id.

The Carr case closely parallels Harris' case. In both cases, the parties contracted for real estate. In the Carr case, it was pursuant to an earnest money agreement, and in Harris' case it was pursuant to an option. In addition, both purchasers had their attorneys inform the sellers that the purchasers were ready, willing, and able to perform the contracts. Nevertheless, both purchasers failed to actually pay any purchase money. In Carr, the purchaser did not tender payment either before or after construction of the home. In Harris' case, although Shields obtained appraisals to figure the purchase price, Shields failed to unconditionally offer payment of the purchase amount **and** produce that amount of money due or its equivalent.

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