1995

# Joseph W. Shields v. Arvil A. Harris : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2A-3(2)(k)(Supp. 1995). The district court's Judgment and Decree of Specific Performance were final.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

### Issue #1

No tender of Payment was required because:

- (A) Mr. Harris failed to cooperate in following the formula for setting the contract price and announced that he would not accept a sum less than what he insisted upon, regardless of any contract price.
- (B) The property to be sold was encumbered with liens and a set price was indeterminable.
- (C) Mr. Harris refused to recognize legitimate offsets owing to Mr. Shields that reduced the contract price.

### Issue #2

The trial Court acted properly and was correct in:

- (A) Harmonizing the terms of the option to buy the contract and the corresponding lease agreement.
- (B) This issue is not the subject of review on appeal because it was never raised at trial.



## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The appellee, Mr. Joseph Shields, had no duty to tender payment of the purchase price because appellant, Mr. Harris specifically announced that he would not accept the amount of the contract price. Further, the real property to be sold was encumbered with liens and the buyer, Mr. Shields, had legitimate offsets to the purchase price. Therefore the purchase price could not be determined and any tender was pointless.

When viewed in light of the clearly interrelated written agreements, the Option To Buy agreement executed by the seller, Mr. Harris, is consistent and harmonious with the lease agreement. Further, should the court find any inconsistencies between the agreements, they must be construed against the interest of the party who drafted them, and that is the seller, Mr. Harris.

## ARGUMENT

POINT I      NO TENDER OF PAYMENT WAS REQUIRED BECAUSE:  
                 (A) MR. HARRIS FAILED TO COOPERATE IN FOLLOWING THE  
                 FORMULA FOR SETTING THE CONTRACT PRICE AND ANNOUNCED  
                 THAT HE WOULD NOT ACCEPT A SUM LESS THAN WHAT HE  
                 INSISTED UPON, REGARDLESS OF ANY CONTRACT PRICE;  
                 (B) THE PROPERTY TO BE SOLD WAS ENCUMBERED WITH  
                 LIENS AND A SET PRICE WAS INDETERMINABLE; AND,  
                 (C) MR. HARRIS REFUSED TO RECOGNIZE LEGITIMATE  
                 OFFSETS OWING TO MR. SHIELDS THAT REDUCED THE CONTRACT  
                 PRICE.

(A)      MR. HARRIS FAILED TO COOPERATE IN FOLLOWING THE FORMULA FOR  
SETTING THE CONTRACT PRICE AND ANNOUNCED THAT HE WOULD NOT ACCEPT  
A SUM LESS THAN WHAT HE INSISTED UPON, REGARDLESS OF ANY CONTRACT  
PRICE;

The Appellant's Point I argument regarding the requirement for tender of payment fails because in this case it is plain and clear that tender of the purchase price for the subject property required the cooperation of Mr. Harris, (the appellant/seller) and Mr. Harris refused to give that cooperation. A simple reading of the "Option To Buy" contract clause relative to the purchase price makes it obvious that such cooperation is necessary:

A. Lessee, Joseph W. Shields would have this Special option to buy said ranch from Lessor Arvil A. Harris for a reasonable price to be negotiated by five independent people, one man from the Federal land Bank, one man from the Soil Conservation Service in Roosevelt, Utah office, one banker from the First Security Bank of Utah loan department, Roosevelt Utah, one farmer in the Myton, Utah area, and one real estate broker in the Myton or Roosevelt area. These five people would make a fair study at the time of purchase to make an honest and fair appraisal of the ranch. All five bids would be added up for a grand total and divided by five to arrive at a selling price.

(See Appellant's Add. Doc. 1). Under this formula for determining the purchase price of

the subject property, it is impossible to tender an exact payment of cash. There obviously must first be cooperation by the parties in selecting the required five appraisers. Those appraisers must then "make a fair study" of the property and do their due diligence to arrive at their independent appraised value. Only then can the five appraisals be added and divided to obtain the sale price amount.

The trial court recognized the need for such cooperation when it stated in its' Findings of Fact as follows:

Shields was not required to tender the purchase price under the facts and circumstances of this case because the formula for finalizing the purchase price could not be completed without the cooperation of both parties as specifically set forth in the Option To Buy agreement. Since both parties are held to the standard of merchants, good faith and fair dealing is implied in their transactions.

(See Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law at Appellant's Add. Doc. 4 at 4, ¶ 17).

Mr. Harris, the seller of the land, refused to so cooperate and expressly stated his intent that he would not follow the formula in the Option To Buy agreement. Prior to any legal action having been taken by Mr. Shields (the appellee/buyer), Mr. Harris wrote two letters stating that he would accept nothing less than the price of \$265,000. Those two letters, dated November 5th 1993 and November 12th, 1993, were marked as exhibit #40 and exhibit #41 and received as evidence at trial. (Appellee's Add. Docs. 1 & 2). Relevant portions of exhibit #40 and #41 are quoted here as follows:

"No Judge in the State of Utah would ever make me sell My ranch for less than \$265,000. that's My Price to you, take it or leave it."

"And No Way in Hell will the Judge make me sell the Ranch for less than the \$275,000.00 I told you + I have told Joe - He can have it for \$265,000. take it or leave it. .... I'm - firm in what I want. (\$265,000.00 + Not a penny less)."

While being cross examined on the witness stand, Mr. Harris was asked regarding his willingness to accept tender of payment for anything less than \$265,000. The dialogue went as follows:

Q. (By Mr. Nebeker) Mr. Harris, let me ask this question: If Joe Shields had brought you money for \$190,000, He brought you \$190,000 and tendered payment to you one year ago, would you have accepted it?

A. No, I would not.

Q. And did you communicate that to Mr. Shields?

A. Yes, I did, if there was any communication done. But I would not accept the 190,000. I assume that's the hypothetical figure you put in.

Q. That is a hypothetical figure that I have drawn. Would you have accepted 220,000?

A. No

Q. Would you have accepted a penny less than \$265?

A. No. I was holding out for \$300,000.

Q. And did you communicate that to me as well?

A. I think I did.

(Tr. at pp. 262 -3).

Mr. Harris is refusing to follow the formula of the very Option To Buy agreement that he prepared, executed, and delivered to Mr. Shields. It was Mr. Shields who cooperated by following the formula of the agreement in requesting four of the five appraisers to appraise the

subject property. The fifth appraiser, the Soil Conservation Service, would not engage in such an undertaking. (See Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Appellant's Add. Doc. 4 at 5, ¶¶ 18 & 19). The average of the submitted appraisals was approximately one hundred thousand (\$100,000) dollars less than the \$265,000 that Mr. Harris was insisting upon. Mr. Harris is appealing on the issue of failure to tender payment when he, Mr. Harris, made it plain and clear that any tender of payment which followed the formula of the Option To Buy agreement would be an "idle ceremony" and a "fruitless gesture."

The Utah Court Of Appeals has recently held that tender will be excused where "it is plain and clear that a tender, if made, would be an idle ceremony and of no avail." *Jenkins v. Equipment Center, Inc.*, 869 P.2d 1000, 1003 (Utah App. 1994) citing *Fitzgerald v. Corbett*, 793 P.2d 356, 359 (Utah 1990) (quoting 74 Am.Jur.2d Tender § 4 (1974)); accord *Hansen v. Christensen*, 545 P.2d 1152, 1154 (Utah 1976)(tender excused where obligee's unreasonable conduct "would make an actual tender a fruitless gesture").

The law of the *Jenkins* case respecting tender addresses the same factual situation in the present case and is controlling of the present issue:

Generally, a tender must be made of the amount actually due. See *Simons v. Bushears Transfer and Storage*, 344 P.2d 1107, 112 (Okla. 1959). 'But if the demand of a larger sum is so made that it amounts to an announcement that it is useless to tender a smaller sum, it dispenses with any tender and amounts to a waiver of the lien.'

Id.

In the present case, Mr. Harris demanded a sale price far in excess of the contract formula price and expressly announced that he would not accept "a penny less." Mr. Harris, by written

correspondence and by verbal announcement made it clear that it would be useless to tender any smaller sum. Mr. Shields should not now, as a matter of law, be found at fault for not making a tender. The Appellate Court in Jenkins impliedly adopts the position of other jurisdictions by quoting that "[o]ther states have found tender to be fruitless and thus excused where the lienor states that he or she does not intend to accept payment." Id. (citations omitted).

Appellant cites Carr v. Enoch Smith Co., 781 P.2d 1292 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) to support the opposing argument that tender must be made. But the Carr case explicitly recognizes the very exception that is applicable to the present case:

[t]he familiar rule that the law does not require one to do a vain or useless thing excuses the making of a formal tender which would otherwise be required, where it is reasonably plain and clear that if made, such a tender would be an idle ceremony and of no avail, as where it appears that a tender, if made, will be refused for some reason unrelated to the tender or its sufficiency....

Id. at 1295 (Emphasis added). The law does not require Shields to make a tender where Harris has made it clear that anything less than the arbitrary demand by Harris will be refused.

Appellant fails to address the relevant facts that invoke application of the exception to the tender rule as spelled out in Carr.

Shields took the necessary steps that were required to satisfy any tender requirements.

He got the appraisals as set forth by the formula in the Option to Buy. (Tr. at 108).

He applied for and was approved for a loan from the Federal Land Bank. (Tr. at 109). Evidence of his approved loan is clear by the fact that he actually closed a related loan through Sunrise Title Company in the sum of \$445,000.00. (Tr. at 25 line 10). He obtained a title report and was

ready to close the deal with Mr. Harris at Sunrise Title Company. (Appellee's Add. Doc. 3). He communicated that he was ready, willing and able to perform in connection with the Option contract. Exhibit 38 (Appellee's Add. Doc. 4).

The response by Harris towards these efforts by Shields was communicated in the November 5th and November 12th, 1993 letters referred to previously in this brief. (Appellee's Add. Docs. 1 & 2). The substance of that response was that regardless of the contract formula, "no way in hell" would the property be sold for less than \$265,000.

There is substantial case law outside the state of Utah that supports the exception to requiring offers of tender. The Supreme Court of Washington held that: "[i]t is, of course, true that where a seller announces in advance that he will not complete the transaction the purchaser is excused from making a tender of the money. No one is required to do a vain thing." *Ellingsen v. Landre*, 241 P.2d 207, 209 (1952), (citations omitted). The Colorado Supreme Court upheld the finding that: "...the tender was obviated by the absolute and unqualified refusal of defendant to perform. Tender is not required where it would be an idle or useless thing." *Gerbaz v. Hulsey*, 288 P.2d 357, 360 (1955). The Arizona Supreme Court has ruled similarly:

It is clear from the evidence that defendant did not intend to recognize the contract as one for the purchase of the property and the court was fully justified in concluding that any kind of tender which would require the conveyance of the property would be an empty gesture and useless. No tender of performance is necessary under such conditions. It is sufficient if plaintiff is ready, willing and offers to perform.

*Lee v. Nichols*, 301 P.2d 1022, 1025 (1956).

The unwillingness by Harris to cooperate in following the formula for determining the contract price destines the failure of his case. The Utah Supreme Court in Ferris v. Jennings, 595 P.2d 857 (1979), stated as follows:

But to be considered therewith the parties to a contract are obliged to proceed in good faith to cooperate in performing the contract in accordance with its expressed intent. A contract is not fatally defective as to price if there is an agreement as to some formula or method for fixing it. Quite beyond this, one party to a contract cannot by wilful act or omission make it impossible or difficult for the other to perform and then invoke the other's non-performance as a defense.

Id., at 859 (Emphasis added).

The expressed intent of the Option To Buy contract in the present case is that the average of five appraisals will determine the sale price. Harris was legally obligated to follow the expressed intent of his own contract, but he adamantly refused to do so. Harris can not now claim as a defense to his refusal to abide by the terms of the contract that Shields did not tender what Harris refused to accept.

The parties to a contract are required to act in good faith and are bound to cooperate to carry out their original intent. The Utah Supreme Court has stated:

When parties have entered into a formal contract, such as for the purchase of real property, it is to be assumed that they will cooperate with each other in good faith for its performance, and one refusing to so perform, or claiming a forfeiture thereof, has the burden of showing justification for doing so.

Tanner v. Baadsgaard, 612 P.2d 345, 347 (Utah 1980).

Harris had an obligation to act in good faith in accordance with the terms of the contract. Harris was prohibited from making it difficult or impossible for Shields to perform pursuant to



the contract terms and then use this as a defense to Shields' action to enforce the contract. Harris failed to act in good faith. He made it useless and burdensome and perhaps even impossible for Shields to perform tender. As the Court in Tanner stated:

We have no doubt as to the correctness of Defendant's assertion that in order to warrant specific performance, the essential terms of the contract must be sufficiently definite to enable the parties to understand what their obligations are. But the proper application of that rule is as a shield to protect from injustice, and not as a weapon with which to work an injustice.

Id., at 347.

In the case at hand the trial court found that the "[t]erms of the option agreement were definite and enforceable and are construed against Harris who drafted the document." (Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law at 4, ¶ 13; Appellant's Add., Doc. 4.) Harris now seeks to use his own bad faith as a weapon against his purchaser. Shields should be protected and allowed the exception from tendering any offer and the trial court's ruling should be upheld.

(B) THE PROPERTY TO BE SOLD WAS ENCUMBERED WITH LIENS AND A SET PRICE WAS INDETERMINABLE;

The argument of Appellant respecting tender should fail for another very important reason which Appellant fails to even raise in their brief. Prior to and during trial, the title to the subject real property was encumbered with liens. Mr. Morgan Glines, a professional state certified abstractor for twenty years and a licensed title examiner for Sunrise Title Company in Roosevelt, Utah, was the first witness called at trial. (Tr. at 8). Through Mr. Glines, a documented "Commitment For Title Insurance" was issued to Mr. Shields and that document

was received into evidence at trial. (Appellee's Add., Doc. 3). Based on the afore-stated document and his work regarding the legal status of the title to the subject property, Mr. Glines testified repeatedly that liens and encumbrances existed on the subject property. The relevant portion of Mr. Glines testimony concerning the liens and encumbrances begins on page 12, line 15 of the Trial transcript and runs through page 18, line 8. Mr. Glines testimony refers to seven (7) different liens and his testimony is condensed here as follows:

Lien #1 page 12 line 15:

A. (By Mr. Glines) Item Number 12 appears as a result of a break in the chain of title from rental failure.

Lien #2 page 13 line 13:

Q. (By Mr. Nebeker) Now, what is the next encumbrance that you see from your title report?

A. Eastern easement. I would move down to item 14, which shows a mortgage by James and Carol Rice to Farm Home.

Q. Does your title report reflect the amount?

A. \$32,100.

Q. Is there anything of public record to show that mortgage has been paid or resolved?

A. No.

Q. Is it true then, that before you could insure this title that mortgage would have to be removed?

A. Yes.

Lien #3 page 13 line 25:

Q. What is the next encumbrance that you have?

A. Item Number 15.

Q. Which is?

A. Unrecorded real estate contract between Arvil Harris and Rich Tran.

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